Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
DECEMBER 4, 2025 - 7:00 P.M.

OAK RIDGE TOWN HALL
MINUTES

Members Present Staff Present
Jim Kinneman, Mayor Bill Bruce, Town Manager
Mike Stone, Mayor Pro Tem Sandra Smith, Asst. Town Mgr./Town Clerk
Ann Schneider Sean Taylor, Planning Director
Jim Harton Sam Anders, Finance Officer
Michael Greeson Michael Thomas, Town Attorney

1. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Jim Kinneman called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.
A. Invocation
The invocation was offered by Randy Collins.

B. Pledge of Allegiance

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Councilwoman Ann Schneider requested removing item number 6, the Annual
Financial Audit Report, from the agenda as it was not yet completed.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the amended agenda and
Councilman Jim Harton seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the minutes of November 6, 2025
regular and closed session meetings, and the November 24, 2025 special called meeting and
closed session. Councilman Jim Harton seconded, and the motion passed unanimously (5-0).

4. RESOLUTIONS, PROCLAMATIONS, ANNOUNCEMENTS

Mayor Jim Kinneman read a proclamation honoring the life and service of Jerry
Cooke, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes.



10.

11.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

REPORT FROM GUILFORD COUNTY SHERIFF’'S OFFICE

No report

REPORT FROM OAK RIDGE FIRE DEPARTMENT
Chief Ken Gibson of the Oak Ridge Fire Department reported on call statistics for
November 2025 and offered seasonal safety advice.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL AUDIT REPORT

Removed from agenda

RECOGNITION OF OUTGOING COUNCIL

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone read a proclamation, which is incorporated by reference
and made a part of the minutes, acknowledging and appreciating the service of
Mayor Jim Kinneman for his years of dedicated service to the Town. Members of
Council followed with personal expressions of appreciation to Kinneman. Mayor
Kinneman shared his reflections on his tenure on Council.

OATH OF OFFICE FOR NEWLY ELECTED MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
Superior Court Judge Stuart Albright administered the oath of office to re-elected
council member Ann Schneider. Jonathan Hamilton administered the oath of office
to newly elected council member Lindsey Clark.

ELECTION OF MAYOR

The elections of mayor and mayor pro tem were handled by Assistant Town
Manager/Town Clerk Sandra Smith.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider nominated Councilman Jim Harton for mayor. With no other
nominations presented, Council’s vote in favor of Jim Harton for mayor was unanimous (5-0).
ELECTION OF MAYOR PRO TEM

Mayor Jim Harton nominated Councilman Michael Greeson as mayor pro tem. With no other
nominations presented, Council’s vote in favor of Michael Greeson as mayor pro tem was

unanimous (5-0).

Smith returned the floor to Mayor Harton.



12.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

PUBLIC HEARINGS

Rezoning Case #RZ-25-04: AG to RS-40. The property is located at 7856 Alcorn Road on
the north side of Alcorn Road, approximately % mile east of the intersection of Alcorn Road
and NC 68 North, being in Oak Ridge Township. It is Guilford County Tax Parcel 162804
(approximately 25.4 acres), is located in the Jordan Lake Watershed, and is owned by Diane
C. Yates.

Planning Director Sean Taylor presented the staff report for Rezoning Case RZ-25-
04, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes. He
noted an edit to the report correcting the reference from Reedy Creek to Beaver
Creek. Taylor stated that the Planning & Zoning Board voted unanimously to
recommend approval of the rezoning, finding it consistent with the adopted Land
Use Plan and finding it reasonable and in the public interest.

In response to a query by Councilwoman Ann Schneider, Taylor indicated that the
creek was located directly north of the parcel in question.

Harton opened the public hearing and explained that 20 minutes to speak would be
given to individuals in favor of the rezoning request and another 20 minutes to
those in opposition, followed with a 5-minute period of rebuttals for both sides.

Proponents:

Craig Fleming, 4196 Mendenhall Oaks Parkway in High Point, represented Ferguson
Lane LLC, which he noted was a partnership between himself with Brian and Mark
Disney. He explained that two similarly sized subdivisions located east of the subject
parcel, Beaver Creek and Crutchfield Farms, were zoned RS-40 with comparable lot
sizes and densities. He confirmed that no other jurisdictional wetlands existed on
the property outside of the flood plain. He added that NCDOT would not require a
traffic impact study, but that all roadway development would be subject to its
review. He underscored his firm’s familiarity with local development requirements
and its compliance with all applicable town, county, and state ordinances and
guidelines, and he stated that rezoning the parcel to RS-40 would be an appropriate
use of the land.

Harton received clarification on the location of the parcel relative to the location of
the historic Ai Church building.

Opponents:

Terry Moore-Painter, residing at 7875 Alcorn Road since 1978, raised her concerns
regarding the impact of traffic that the new development would have on the blind
curve at the presumed entrance and the impact that additional wells and septic
tanks would have on the feeding aquifer. She encouraged Council to call for traffic
and water impact studies in the area to assess potential deficits.

Randy Collins, 4514 Peeples Road, noted that Peeples Road connected to Alcorn
Road and was frequently used as a cut-through by traffic exiting I-73 into Oak Ridge.
He expressed concerns about increased traffic volumes on Peeples Road, excessive
vehicle speeds, and the potential impact on local school enrollment.



Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

Don Harter, 5819 Bison Drive, expressed concern about additional runoff into
Beaver Creek which regularly flooded, recalling that Beaver Creek had widened by
six to 10 feet in the 14 years since he has lived on Bison Drive due to trees washing
into the creek. He expressed apprehension about the potential for flooding on his

property.

Andy Michels, 8216 Hunting Cog Road, re-emphasized concern over the impact of
additional traffic on the curve on Alcorn Road.

Rebuttals in favor:

Craig Fleming, 4196 Mendenhall Oaks Parkway in High Point, shared concern over
traffic in the area and noted that he had spoken with representatives of NCDOT to
ensure his compliance with all regulations and requirements for safety. He aligned
with efforts to reduce the speed limit in the area. Regarding the issue of runoff
considerations when comparing agricultural and residential land uses, he noted that
both can contribute pollutants, such as chemicals from agriculture and fertilizers
from residential development. He pointed out that it was unclear that one use would
be inherently worse than the other. Fleming emphasized that while residential
development was subject to extensive regulation at the town, county, state, and
federal levels, particularly regarding construction and environmental impacts,
agricultural operations were far less regulated to allow necessary flexibility for
farming. He suggested that, from a standpoint of runoff and pollution, residential
development would be easier to regulate and potentially less harmful to the
environment.

Rebuttals in opposition:

Don Harter, 5819 Bison Drive, asked if any efforts for remediating potential water
runoff were planned. Harton noted that questions would not be addressed at this
time.

Harton closed the public hearing.

Council questions:

Councilwoman Schneider raised the question concerning remediation efforts
related to runoffs. Taylor explained that Town ordinances governing stormwater
management do not require permanent remediation; however, he indicated that
stormwater management devices and programs recommended by the Town's
stormwater engineers were incorporated into the development plan. He pointed out
that restrictive standards imposed by the Jordan Lake Watershed and Guilford
County/Greensboro (GW-III) Watershed Overlay are also enforced during
development.

Councilman Mike Stone asked Fleming to clarify that the application for a driveway
permit would be for a street connection and asked if that street connection would be
a public road. Fleming explained that NCDOT referred to street connections as
driveways, which would be connected to public roads.

Stone inquired about the buffalo pit near the Beaver Creek subdivision. Taylor
explained that the buffalo pit area was dedicated as open space as part of that



13.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

subdivision and that the parcel was subsequently dedicated to the Town. He verified
that the historic buffalo pit was not on the parcel being considered for rezoning.

Stone verified that all technical details related to development of the subdivision
would be reviewed during the subdivision plan process, and that Council was solely
considering rezoning the parcel from AG to RS-40.

Councilwoman Lindsey Clark asked if NCDOT would assess if a turn lane were
necessary during its review for a driveway permit. Fleming responded affirmatively.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the proposed zoning amendment of

AG to RS-40 based on

1. The proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the adopted comprehensive plan of the
Town of Oak Ridge: The Planning Board has provided the Council with its written
statement that the proposed zoning amendment is consistent with the comprehensive
plan, and the Council concurs and adopts the Planning Board's finding of consistency by
reference

AND

2. The proposed zoning amendment is reasonable: The Council considers the proposed
zoning amendment to be reasonable because the report of the Town staff finding the
proposed zoning amendment to be reasonable is adopted by reference. Council further
finds that the proposed zoning amendment is reasonable because it meets the Town'’s
ordinances as proposed

AND

3. The proposed zoning amendment is in the public interest: The Council considers the
proposed zoning amendment to be in the public interest because of the report of Town
staff finding the proposed zoning amendment to be in the public interest is adopted by
reference.

Councilman Michael Greeson seconded the motion.

Council discussion:

Schneider expressed her support for traffic safety, advocating for reduced speed
limits and said she was confident that NCDOT would sufficiently manage the
placement of the subdivision’s entrance. She asked Taylor if drawdown tests were
performed on individual wells and he said no. She encouraged homeowners to
watch for potential runoff during construction and to inform Taylor or the
developer in the event it occurs.

Stone stated his support of the motion by explaining that RS-40 was the lowest-
density residential zoning available in Oak Ridge. He emphasized that RS-40
balanced minimal impact on the land and surrounding area with respect for
property rights, allowing reasonable development within Town ordinances.

Clark noted that most technical issues pertaining to the subdivision’s development
would be addressed during the construction process.

The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

EVIDENTIARY HEARING



Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

SPECIAL USE PERMIT CASE # SUP-25-01: The property is located at 2524 Oak Ridge Road,
on the southwestern side of the intersection of Oak Ridge Road and Bunch Road, in Oak
Ridge Township. It is Guilford County Tax Parcel #163046, consists of approximately 3.16
acres, and is owned by F2 Home LLC. The property is zoned RS-40 (residential) and is
within the Scenic Corridor Overlay District and the Greensboro (GW-I1I) Watershed Overlay.
The applicant seeks a Special Use Permit to establish an Event Center on the above-named
parcel.

Harton explained the proceedings of the quasi-judicial hearing to assist both the
public and Council in better understanding the process. As a quasi-judicial hearing,
he stated that Council would base its decision solely on competent, relevant, and
substantial evidence including written materials submitted by the applicant and
sworn testimony from the applicant and others offering relevant facts. He noted that
it was incumbent upon Council to identify factual findings known as findings of fact
to base their determination on whether the applicant met the Town's requirements
for event centers under Section 30-1048 of the Town’s ordinances as well as the
general conditions for Special Use Permits under Section 30-302. He explained that
compliance with these standards would ensure that the Special Use Permit was
compatible with the surrounding area, which in this situation was a RS-40
residential district.

Harton further stated that Council was limited to hearing from the applicant,
witnesses, including experts, for the applicant, Town staff, members of the public
who demonstrate standing in the case, and other witnesses who can present
competent material and substantial evidence that was not repetitive and was
allowed by Council. He pointed out that all testimony would be taken under oath
and would thereby be legally binding. He urged that testimonies focus on facts and
ordinance standards and not personal preferences.

Upon completion of testimonies, Harton explained that Council would deliberate
and ask questions, at the conclusion of which Council would render an approval, an
approval with conditions, denial, or continuance of the hearing to a date certain.

Harton asked if there were any conflicts of interest among Council to ensure an
impartial hearing for the applicant. He specified that Council members may not
participate in the hearing if they held a fixed opinion on the outcome of the hearing,
had a financial interest in the outcome, or, had a family, business, or other
relationship with the applicant or affected person. Council members individually
disclosed that they had no conflicts of interest.

Harton asked Council members to disclose whether any had engaged in ex parte
communication regarding the case outside of the hearing, including site visits or
conversations with the applicant, staff, or members of the public. Both Harton and
Schneider revealed that they had had extensive conversations with staff focused
only on the process of the hearing but not this specific case. Clark noted that she had
a conversation with Taylor regarding ordinances, which also did not involve details
of the case. Stone revealed that he had visited the property and had conversations
with Town staff. Harton confirmed with Council members that no objections were
made to any members’ participation in the case. Town Attorney Michael Thomas



Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

asked whether Stone’s visit to the property had created a fixed opinion regarding
the case. Stone responded that it had not.

Thomas preempted the presentation of the application with a disclosure of an
ethical nature regarding the unauthorized practice of law at quasi-judicial hearings
based on the 2007 Formal Ethics Opinion 3, which was based on the Authorized
Practice Advisory Opinion 2006-1. Thomas read the relevant paragraph from the
2007 Formal Ethics Opinion, which concluded that representation at quasi-judicial
proceedings is limited to active members of the state bar because the acts of
presentation of evidence through others, cross-examination of witnesses, and
argument on the law is the practice of law which must be carried out by members of
the state bar. Thomas stated that it was his duty to advise Council of the legal
implications of the opinion and to provide legal advice on any matter arising from
the case. He further stated that, under North Carolina law, an applicant that is a
corporation or LLC is required to be legally represented, and he stated that it was
the discretion of Council to either require the applicant to be represented by an
attorney or formally waive the requirement for legal representation.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to continue the proceedings, stating that no
perceived risk to the Town existed if the applicant chose not to have an attorney present
during the proceedings.

Discussion ensued. Clark suggested amending the motion to include restricting the
applicant’s representative to statements of fact alone without engaging in argument
on matters of law. Schneider pointed out that such a restriction would impede the
applicant’s ability to advocate for themselves and opposed the suggested
amendment. She offered a reminder to the mayor of his ability to second a motion.
She asked Clark if she perceived a risk to the Town if the proceedings continued
without legal representation for the applicant. Clark indicated that her concern was
less about risk and more about adherence to the legal standards outlined by
Thomas. Schneider cited her past experience as chair of the Historical Preservation
Commission (HPC), which conducts quasi-judicial proceedings that typically do not
involve legal representation, and noted that Bill Greco, the applicant’s
representative, was well versed in such proceedings and capable of navigating the
process. She added that corporations were among applicants reviewed by the HPC.

Harton asked whether most inquiries in the case would involve questions about the
site and therefore be directed to the applicant rather than to an attorney. Thomas
clarified that the proceedings would include legal argument, not solely the
presentation of facts, and that such argument would require an attorney.

Stone stated that this was the current Council’s first experience with a Special Use
Permit and noted the infrequency and complexity of quasi-judicial proceedings. He
expressed discomfort with allowing an individual or corporation to proceed without
legal representation and stated a preference for maintaining a high standard in the
application of ordinances. He stated that he would feel more comfortable if the
applicant were represented by an attorney at the proceedings.

Schneider noted that her focus in the case was to understand the operations of the
proposed facility and review the technical aspects of the site, both of which could be

7



Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

adequately addressed by the applicant’s representative. She cautioned against
setting a precedent that would require legal representation in all future Special Use
Permit cases. Clark clarified her earlier suggestion, emphasizing that the applicant’s
representative should be limited to providing factual statements about the
application and should not act in a legal capacity. Schneider pointed out the
complexity in imposing this distinction on the representative, particularly when the
representative needs to advocate for the applicant through rebuttals and responses
to inquiries in the hearing. Thomas stated that corporations are required to have
legal representation in courts. While he acknowledged some flexibility in quasi-
judicial hearings, he stressed that adjudicating facts through cross-examination, a
practice of an attorney, is essential for the body to make informed determinations.
However, Thomas admitted that Council had the discretion to waive the
requirement for legal representation. He explained that an applicant’s
representative may provide a factual presentation without examining witnesses,
presenting experts, or calling and questioning witnesses. He added that the legal
opinions recognized and accepted that professionals such as surveyors or architects
can appear, provide information about the application, and answer Council’s
questions.

As Schneider said she would withdraw her motion, Harton interrupted to question if
rebuttals during the proceeding would constitute cross-examination. Thomas
clarified that cross-examination only occurred in a question-and-answer setting
with a witness, and that simply presenting information or offering a rebuttal did not
constitute cross-examination.

Mayor Jim Harton seconded the motion.

Clark pointed out that the motion had been withdrawn, while Schneider clarified
that she was only in the process of withdrawing her motion when she was
interrupted.

Councilwoman Lindsey Clark made a substitute motion to allow the applicant to be heard with
their chosen representative, with the understanding that the representative would not
practice law and would be limited to presenting factual statements and providing rebuttals as
necessary. Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded the motion.

Councilman Michael Greeson asked for Thomas’ opinion of the motion. Thomas
clarified that the motion should state that the representative would not engage in
cross-examination and legal arguments, and Clark concurred with his assessment.

Greeson indicated that he would prefer that the applicant have legal representation
and that he would not vote in favor of the motion.

Stone reiterated his desire for the applicant to have legal representation, noting that
that the proceedings would set a precedent for future applications. While
acknowledging the discussion may not be highly technical, he agreed that having an
attorney would make the process simpler and clearer.

Clark verified Greeson’s and Stone’s positions in opposition to the motion. Stone
suggested a postponement of the proceedings until the next Council meeting.



14.

15.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

Schneider reemphasized the point that legal representation was not required and
that the precedent to set should be a sensible examination of the findings of fact
which can be provided by the applicant. She noted that having legal opinions on the
proceedings by an opposing attorney would not add to Council’s discussions and
advocated moving forward with the case.

A vote was taken, and the motion failed (2-3) with Schneider and Harton voting for and
Greeson, Stone, and Clark voting against.

Councilman Mike Stone made a motion to continue the hearing to the Council meeting on
February 5, 2026, and Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded. The motion passed
unanimously (5-0).

Schneider offered apologies to those who appeared at the meeting for the hearing.

PUBLIC COMMENTS / COMMUNITY ORGANIZATION REPORTS
A. Community Organization Reports

e Oak Ridge Elementary School
Melissa Wilson, Assistant Principal, reported on the success of Operation Sweet
Success and on the participation of students at the Town’s Light Up the Night
event. She noted mitigation of the elevated levels of PFAS in the school’s well
water supply and reported on the successful launch of the new transportation
hub at the Town Park, which has already reduced congestion at the school’s car
rider lines.

Harton added that the school would be contacted to discuss connection to the
Town Municipal Water System.

B. Comments from the Public

e George McClellan, 2806 Oak Ridge Road, acknowledged the new Council and the
Town’s projects.

e NC House Representative John Blust, 5630 David Christian Place in Greensboro,
acknowledged the new Council and offered his support.

TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT

A. Consideration/Approval of reappointment of John Browning as Parks &
Recreation Advisory Board liaison to Tree Committee

Councilman Mike Stone made a motion to approve the reappointment of John Browning as
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board liaison to Tree Committee, and Mayor Pro Tem Michael
Greeson seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).



16.

17.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

B. Consideration/Approval or Resolution R-2025-08 to add Pemberley Drive and
Pemberley Court to the NC State Maintenance System

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve Resolution R-2025-08, and Mayor
Pro Tem Michael Greeson seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

C. Consideration/Approval of Resolution R-2025-09 to allow for electronic legal
advertising on the Guilford County website

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve Resolution R-2025-09, and Mayor
Pro Tem Michael Greeson seconded.

Stone asked how the advertisement would be linked through the Town'’s website.
Thomas explained that the advertisement would appear on Guilford County’s
website, and Assistant Town Manager/Town Clerk Sandra Smith added that the
advertisement would similarly appear on the Town’s website.

The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

D. Any other business
Town Manager Bill Bruce reported that a contract amendment and change order to
the contract with Park Construction for the construction of the water main required
Council’s approval. He stated that a pipe upgrade to a 12-inch PVC SDR21 was
necessary to comply with NCDOT’s right-of-way pipe specifications. He noted that
the upgrade would cost $55,789.50, which was 25 percent of the $220,000
contingency fund allocated for the project.

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the proposed contract amendment

for $55,789.50 as described by the Town Manager, and Mayor Pro Tem Michael Greeson

seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

MONTHLY FINANCIAL UPDATE
Finance Officer Sam Anders presented the financial report for the month of
November 2025, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the

minutes.

Councilman Mike Stone made a motion to approve the finance report as presented by the
Finance Officer, and Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded. The motion passed unanimously

(5-0).

COMMITTEE REPORTS
A. Planning & Zoning Board

Previously discussed

10



18.

Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

B. Board of Adjustment
No report

C. Mountains-to-Sea-Trail Committee
Chair Anne Steele reported on the status of issues at the Headwaters Trail and the
Carriage Cove/Pemberley Trail. She announced that an online survey was scheduled
to garner feedback on trail names for two new trails.

D. Conservation Easement Committee
Councilwoman Ann Schneider reported that the committee continued to consider
ongoing projects and no action was taken, and Taylor added that the committee
reviewed existing grant applications.

E. Special Events Committee
Chair Patti Dmuchowski reported on the success of the opening of the Boardwalk at
the Veterans Honor Green on Veterans Day. She reviewed upcoming events at Light

Up the Night and reported that a small memorial to 9/11 was approved by the Parks
& Recreation Advisory Board to be located at Town Park.

F. Tree Board
No report
G. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board

Co-chair John Browning reported that the Board had recommended Revington
Reeves to present a design for Phase II at Heritage Farm Park. He added updates on
ongoing projects.

H. Finance Committee
No report
L. Water Advisory Committee

Harton reported on the Open House held for the Municipal Water System.

]. Historic Preservation Commission
No report
PUBLIC COMMENTS

11



Town Council Minutes: December 4, 2025

e Sam Anders, 1829 Oak Ridge Road, offered positive comments on the Dewey’s
Holiday Store sponsored by the Moravia Moravian Church. He added comments
on the Triad Honor Flight, for which he volunteers.

19. COUNCIL COMMENTS

Clark explained that she voted against her own motion on the Special Use Permit to
allow extra time for Council to deliberate and to take a more cautious approach on a
technical legal issue. She encouraged participation in the rescheduled February
hearing.

Stone commented on the statue of a lion added to the Lions Club Tranquility Garden
in Heritage Farm Park.

Schneider announced her appointment as co-chair for the North Carolina League of
Municipalities Legislative Policy Committee.

Harton noted that the Town and Council were politically polarized and included
both experienced and new members. As the newly elected mayor, he emphasized
focusing on actionable projects rather than past issues and highlighted the
importance of strategic planning and adherence to the Town’s budget and Capital
Improvement Plan. He outlined his key priorities as the first phase of the water
system, sidewalks along NC 68/150, and Heritage Farm Park Phase 2, which will
require significant funding and grant efforts. He acknowledged the challenges of
small-town governance, the need for collaboration with Council and staff, and the
importance of patience and support from the community during the Council’s term.

20. ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Pro Tem Michael Greeson made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 9:33 p.m., and
Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded. The motion passed unanimously (5-0).

Respectfully Submitted:

Sandra B. Smith, MMC, NCCMC
Assistant Town Manager/Town Clerk

Jim Harton
Mayor

12



	OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING
	Proponents:
	Rebuttals in opposition:
	AND
	AND


	Council discussion:


